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May 7, 1987

Lawrence M. Noble. Esq.
Acting General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street, N.W. -
Washington, D.C. 20463

Cthd ) AW LS

Dear Mr. Noble:

The Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee (“DCCC")
files this complaint pursuant to §437g of the Federal Election
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §431 et seq.
("FECA"), challenging the receipt of an illegal contribution by
the Kennedy for Congress Committee, its treasurer, and
Mr. Brian Kennedy ("Respondents").

In the course of Mr. Kennedy's campaign for election to
the U.S. Congress, Respondents negotiated, received and
expended a "loan"” from an individual which substantially
exceeded the applicable contribution limitations under §441a of
the FECA. Respondents' actions in accepting these illegal
funds reflect knowing disregard of the federal campaign finance
laws.

Toward the close of the campaign, in an apparent 11lth hour
effort to generate funds, Respondents accepted a "loan" in the
amount of $10,000 from a Jackie Gilligan of Sea Girt, New
Jersey. This loan appears on Schedule C of the Kennedy for
Congress' October 15, 1986 report, attached hereto as Exhibit A.
While designated as a loan, this $10,000 gift was not collatera-
lized; it did not carry interest; and there was no agreement on
a due date or date certain by which it would be repaid.

Respondents should be charged with rudimentary knowledge
of the FECA provisions governing loans. These provisions
clearly provide that a loan from an individual to a candidate
or candidate's committee constitutes a “contribution."”

2 U.S.C. §431(8)(A)(1); 11 C.F.R. §100.7(a)(1)(i)(B). As a
contribution, it is subject to dollar limitations in the same
manner as any other contribution. Thus, FEC requlations state
that:
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A loan which exceeds the contribution limi-
tations of 2 U.S.C. 441a and 11 CFR Part 110
shall be unlawful whether or not it is
repaid.

11 C.F.R. §100.7(a)(1)(i)(A).

Contributions by individuals to the general
election campaign of a candidate for Congress are
limited to $1,000 per election. The contribution
reported as a loan by Mr. Gilligan exceeds this
general election contribution limitation by fully
$9,000. A substantial violation of the contribution
limita- tions of the federal law is therefore
presented.

Upon investigation by the FEC, it may become
clearer how Respondents came to achieve so gross a

I~ violation of federal law. There is only one of two
possible explanations. Either Respondents are
o egregiously ignorant of the campaign finance laws and

somehow assumed that contributions from individuals

could be masked as "loans"; or alternatively, as the

~N campaign came to a close and Mr. Kennedy's financial
needs became desperate, he and his committee chose to

~ disregard the law in order to achieve their immediate
financial objectives.

[ o

- In either case, the law requires strict and
immediate enforcement and DCCC requests that the same

- proceed immediately.

o Rigpectfullg submitted,

cT

/////‘// Y/

/Robert F.—“Bauer

' Counsel, Democratic
Congressional Campaign
Committee

Subscribed and sworn to before me this Cﬁdi day of May, 1987.

Aﬁ é/i HE " %7Wo¢ -

Notary Public

My commission expires: cigf;gd92
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C 20463
May 14, 1987

Jackie Gilligan
S Crescent Avenue
Yea Birt., NJ 08750

RE MUR 2412
Jackie Gilligan

Dear Ms. Gilligan:

The Federal Election Commission received a complaint which
alleges that vou mav have violated the Federal EZlection Campaian
Act of 1971. as amended {(the "Act'). A copy of the complaint 1s
enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 24172, Flease refer
to this number 1n all future correspcondence.

Jnder the RAoh. vou have the opportunity to demonstrate
wrirting that no action showld  te  taken asainst vow in this
matter, Fleaes sunrmit any factual or leaal mate-irals which WAL
belireve ace relevant to the Commission = analvysise of this maboor
Whe e ARV LT LA ST, & taments st d e submitrted under oat-.,
Yoo reeponse, whicon showld be addressed toc the General Covnzel
Ot+ree, musEt b ted withain 15 davs of receilrt  of el

S LET, I+ ro response 1 recelved within 135 dave the Comms
SrromEy bake fuarthe action based o the avarlables informatilon.

JEemnaln
A TEY and
atirg hnat

irkend

L tHLQPVDH& fam e e
and
other oonmon Lo at )




[f vou have any questions. please contact Jonnm  Drurv,  the
attorney assigned to this matter, at 4 o e [ For vour
information, we have attached a bries description cof the
Commission s procedures for handling comelaints

Sincere .

L.awrence M. Moble
aotimng General Counsel

’

A A

Georae F. Rushel

o late General Cournsel

Enclosures
1. Complaint
2. Froceduares

e Dewnanation of : Srtalemnent




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON. D.C. 20463

May 14, 1987
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C. 20463
May 14, 1987

chert Fo Baver, Esguire

Lemocratic Congressional Campalan Comnlcbee
Farkins Cole

1110 Vermont Avenue, NW

blashimnaton, DG 20005

FE MU 241

Me letter acknowledaes recelpt o+ vour cooprlalnt. recsivad
LP3E7, alleginsa possitble violations of the Federal wleo-
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KENNEDY AND DANIEL
COUNSELLORS AT LAW

BRIAN T. KENNEDY 503 WASHINGTON BLVD,
CORNELIUS wW. DANIEL, I11 P. O. BOX 243
CERTIFIED CIVIL TRIAL ATTORNEY SEA GIRT, N. J. 0870
EDWARD B. KNAUER =
MEMBER OF N.J. AND FL. BAR (201) 440-0555

PAUL S, KENNEDY

May 28th, 1987

Lawrence M. Noble, Esquire
Acting General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street NW
Washington, NJ 20463

Iy

RE: MUR 2412 .
KENNEDY FOR CONGRESS

o 2

. Dear Mr. Noble:

. This is to acknowledge receipt of your letter of May 14th, 1987 with its

' enclosures. To begin with, I was the candidate and not the treasurer,

which is the title used in addressing me in this correspondence.

o It is true that my FEC October Quarterly report of 6/30 - 9/30 does reflect

a loan to campaign from one named Jackie Gilligan in the amount to $10,000.
Ms. Gilligan is my fiancee and in checking our records I have determined
P that on 9/26/86 a check in the amount of $4,000.00 was drawn on an account
) in both of our names, I enclose a copy of the cancelled check for verification.

-
The second check was drawn on an account in my fiancee's name alone in the

< amount of $6,000.00 and made payable to the account.

o

I did not know that there was a limitation on the amount that an individual
F could Toan to a congressional campaign fund, particularily a fiancee. Not
only was I unaware that a fiancee could not loan the campaign a sum more
that $1,000 but I honestly cannot understand the logic or rational behind
such a ruling. If we were married she could contribute $10 million to my
campaign but as a fiancee she can contribute or loan only $1,000?

The Democrat Congressional Campaign Committee alleges that this Toan was made
at the 11th hour. The two checks were dated September 26th, 1986, six weeks
before the election, hardly the 11th hour.

The Democrat Congressional Campaign Committee also complains that my fiancee
did not charge me interest nor a date for repayment. I would think that this
would indeed be proper for a fiancee not to charge interest or demand a date
certain for repaymenc, at least with my fiancee.

Very truly yours,

E H. GILLIGAN
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QDBRAL ELECTION COMMISS 1’”

999 E Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

§'
S
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FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

MUR § 2412 "
Date Complaint Received-:

By OGC 567%87
Date of No ication tox
the Respondents 5/12/8%>

Staff Member John Drury *
)

COMPLAINT: The Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee

onn T
Lt v

<4
=

RESPONDENTS: Kennedy for Congress Committee and
C. Daniel, as treasurer
Jackie Gilligan
Brian T. Kennedy

RELEVANT STATUTES: 2 U.S.C. § 431(8) (A) (i)
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a) (1) (A)
11 C.F.R. § 104.8(c) & (d)
INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: C Index, Committee's Statement
of Organization
FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: None

I. GENERATION OF THE MATTER

This matter was generated as a result of a complaint from
the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee dated and
received on May 7, 1987. (Attachment I). A response to the
complaint was received by this Office on June 1, 1987.

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

The complainant alleges that the Kennedy for Congress
Committee (the "Committee") and C. Daniel, as treasurer, violated

the Act by accepting an excessive contribution from Jackie

Gilligan.l/

1/ The Commission recently approved an audit of the Kennedy for
Congress Committee, which audit is currently being conducted by
the Audit Division.
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Specifically, information supplied in the complaint
indicates that Jackie Gilligan made a loan of $10,000 to the
Committee on or about September 26, 1986. Pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 431(8)(A)(i), a loan is a contribution. Pursuant to 2 U.S.C.

§ 441a(a) (1) (A), no person shall make contributions to any
candidate and his authorized committees with respect to any
election for Federal office which in the aggregate exceed $1,000.

On June 1, 1987, this Office received a letter signed by
Brian Kennedy and Jackie Gilligan stating that Ms. Gilligan is
Kennedy's fiancee. The response indicates that she provided the
Kennedy for Congress Committee with two checks totalling $10,000.
(Attachment III). One check was for $4,000, the other check was
for $6,000. The $4,000 check was drawn on an account held in the
names of Jackie Gilligan and Brian Kennedy. However,

Ms. Gilligan alone signed the check.

Pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 104.8(d), a joint contribution shall
indicate on the written instrument, or on an accompanying written
statement signed by all contributors, the amount to be attributed
to each contributor. The $4,000 check does not bear any such
indication, and the respondents have not furnished evidence of an
accompanying written statement. Also, pursuant to 11 C.F.R.

§ 104.8(c), absent evidence to the contrary, any contribution
made by check shall be reported as a contribution by the last
person signing the instrument prior to delivery to the candidate

or committee. Jackie Gilligan was the only person to sign the

check. The Committee reported this contribution, combined with
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the $6,000 contribution, as being from Gilligan. Therefore, it
appears that the $4,000 check does not constitute a joint
contribution but is instead a contribution by Gilligan alone,

Pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 110.10(a), candidates for federal
office may make unlimited expenditures from personal funds.
Pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 110.10(b), personal funds include any
assets which, under state law, the candidate had legal right of
access to or control over, and with respect to which the

candidate had either legal and rightful title or an equitable

interest. Although Brian Kennedy presumably had legal right of
access and legal and rightful title to some portion of the funds
in the account on which the $4000 check was drawn, the
contribution was made by Jackie Gilligan, rather than by Kennedy,
and hence is not comprised of the personal funds of the
candidate.

According to the respondents, "The second check was drawn
on an account in [Jackie Gilligan's] name alone in the amount of
$6,000.00 and made payable to the [Committee's] account.”

(Attachment III, page 2).

T304 07 2 8% 44

Jackie Gilligan's combined contribution of $10,000 exceeds
the contribution limitation set forth in Section 441la(a)(1l)(Aa).
Therefore, there is reason to believe that Jackie Gilligan
violated 2 U.S.C. § 441la(a) (1) (A).

The Committee reported receipt of this contribution on its
1986 October Quarterly Report. Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f),
no candidate or political committee shall knowingly accept any

contribution in violation of the provisions of 2 U.S.C. § 441a,




b o0
including Section 44la(a) (1) (A). Inasmuch as Jackie Gilligan's
contribution is in apparent violation of Section 44la(a) (1) (A),
there is reason to believe that the Committee is in violation of
Section 44la(f).

In MUR 2112, the Commission found reason to believe that
Chipman C. Bull, a candidate for federal office, violated
2 U.S.C. § 44la(f). The Commission premised this finding on
Bull's apparent personal involvement in obtaining a loan on behalf
of the Chipman C. Bull for Congress Committee. */ Similarly, in
this case :!. appears that the candidate, Brian Kennedy, may have

personally participated in the process by which Jackie Gilligan

‘N extended a loan of $10,000 to the Kennedy for Congress Committee.

A

For example, in his responses to the complaint, Brian Kennedy

o . .. .
stated, "I did not know that there was a limitation on the amount
ﬂ"
- that an individual could loan to a congressional campaign fund,
~ particularily [sic] a fiancee." Mr. Kennedy also stated the
c following:
< "Not only was I unaware that a fiancee could
not loan the campaign a sum more that $1000
< but I honestly cannot understand the logic or
o rational behind such a ruling. If we were
married she could contribute $10 million to
o my campaign but as a fiancee she can

contribute or loan only $1,0002?"
[sic] (Attachment III, page 1). These statements indicate that
Ms. Gilligan may in fact have been acting at Mr. Kennedy's
behest. Therefore, as in MUR 2112, it appears that the candidate

may have been personally involved in accepting the excessive

*/ While a subsequent investigation indicated that Bull was not
personally involved, the principle is still valid at this initial

stage of the Commission's inquiry.




from Ms. Gilligan. Accordingly, this Office recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe Brian Kennedy violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 44la(f) by knowingly accepting a contribution which violates
the provisions of 2 U.S.C. § 441la.

III. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Find reason to believe that Jackie Gilligan violated
2 U.S.C. § 441la(a) (1) (n).

2. Find reason to believe the Kennedy for Congress Committee
and C. Daniel, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f).

3. Find reason to believe that Brian T. Kennedy violated
2 U.S.C. § 441a(f).

N'o)
Vol 4, Approve and send the attached letter
~ 7/ R, M
- y / y - [4
Date ( 4 /’ awrence M. Noble
N Acting General Counsel
» Attachments
I. Complaint
o II. Proposed Letters (3)
< III. Response to the Complaint
C

a7
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Kennedy for Congress Committee
and C. Daniel, as treasurer
Jackie Gilligan

Brian T. Kennedy

MUR 2412

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session of July 21,
1987, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a
vote of 6-0 to take the following actions in MUR 2412:

g b Find reason to believe that Jackie Gilligan
violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (1) (Aa).

2. Find reason to believe the Kennedy for
Congress Committee and C. Daniel, as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f).

3. Direct the Office of General Counsel to
send appropriate letters.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Josefiak, McDonald,
McGarry, and Thomas voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

1-d2/-8% sor.. Mﬁ}w

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON D C 20463

July 24, 1987

Jackie Gilligan
726 Crescent Place
Sea Girt, NJ 08750

RE: MUR 2412
Jackie Gilligan

Dear Ms. Gilligan:

On May 14, 1987, the Federal Election Commission notified
you of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"). A
copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time.

Upon further review of the allegations contained in the
complaint, and information supplied by you, the Commission, on
July 21, 1987, found that there is reason to believe you violated
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(l)(A), a provision of the Act. Specifically,
it appears that in advancing a $10,000 loan to the Kennedy for
Congress Committee, you made an excessive contribution in
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (1) (Aa).

Under the Act you have an opportunity to demonstrate that no
action should be taken against you. You may submit any factual
or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the
Commission's consideration of this matter. Please submit such
materials to the General Counsel's Office within 15 days of
receipt of this letter. Where appropriate, statements should be
submitted under oath.

In the absence of any additional information demonstrating
that no further action should be taken against you the Commission
may find probable cause to believe that a violation has occurred
and proceed with conciliation.

If you are interested in pursuing pre-probable cause
conciliation, you should so request in writing. See 11 C.F.R.
§ 111.18(d). Upon receipt of the request, the Office of the
General Counsel will make recommendations to the Commission
either proposing an agreement in settlement of the matter or
recommending declining that pre-probable cause conciliation be
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pursued. The Office of the General Counsel may recommend that
pre-probable cause conciliation not be entered into at this time
so that it may complete its investigation of the matter.
Further, the Commission will not entertain requests for pre-
probable cause conciliation after briefs on probable cause have

been mailed to the respondent.

Requests for extensions of time will not be routinely
granted. Requests must be made in writing at least five days
prior to the due date of the response and specific good cause
must be demonstrated. 1In addition, the Office of the General
Counsel ordinarily does not give extensions beyond 20 days.

This matter will remain confidential in accordance with
2 U.S5.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) unless you notify
the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made

public.
~ If you have any questions, please contact John Drury, the
: attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 376-8200.
No

Sincerely,

Ny FAL e
~ Scott E. Thomas
Chairman

o 3 9 4 9 7
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON, D C 20463

July 24, 1987

C. Daniel, Treasurer

Kennedy for Congress Committee
P.0. Box 411

Sea Girt, NJ 08750

RE: MUR 2412
Kennedy for Congress Committee
and C. Daniel, as treasurer

Dear Mr. Daniel:

On May 14, 1987, the Federal Election Commission notified
the Kennedy for Congress Committee and you, as treasurer of a
complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"). A copy of
the complaint was forwarded to you at that time.

Upon further review of the allegations contained in the
complaint, and information supplied by you, the Commission, on
July 21, 1987, found that there is reason to believe the
Committee and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f), a
provision of the Act. Specifically, it appears that the $10,000
loan from Jackie Gilligan which you reported on the 1986 October
Quarterly Report was an excessive contribution, and that the
committee knowingly accepted this excessive contribution, in
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f).

Under the Act you have an opportunity to demonstrate that no
action should be taken against the Committee and you, as
treasurer. You may submit any factual or legal materials that
you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration of
this matter. Please submit such materials to the General
Counsel's Office within 15 days of receipt of this letter. Where
appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath.

In the absence of any additional information demonstrating
that no further action should be taken against the Committee and
you, as treasurer, the Commission may find probable cause to
believe that a violation has occurred ancd proceed with
conciliation,
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If you are interested in pursuing pre-probable cause
conciliation, you should so request in writing. See 11 C.F.R.
§ 111.18(d). Upon receipt of the request, the Office of the
General Counsel will make recommendations to the Commission
either proposing an agreement in settlement of the matter or
recommending declining that pre-probable cause conciliation be
pursued. The Office of the General Counsel may recommend that
pre-probable cause conciliation not be entered into at this time
so that it may complete its investigation of the matter.
Further, the Commission will not entertain requests for pre-
probable cause conciliation after briefs on probable cause have
been mailed to the respondent.

Requests for extensions of time will not be routinely
granted. Requests must be made in writing at least five days
prior to the due date of the response and specific good cause
must be demonstrated. 1In addition, the Office of the General
Counsel ordinarily does not give extensions beyond 20 days.

This matter will remain confidential in accordance with
2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a)(4)(B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) unless you notify
the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made
public.

If you have any questions, please contact John Drury, the
attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 376-8200.

Sincerely,

0= .cv/ A

Scott E. Thomas
Chairman




(]
\

"."I’ ‘l"l" (;Z(:(:*t'L\ 5sS

KENNEDY AND DANIEL
COUNSELLORS AT LAW e
BRIAN T. KENNEDY

503 WASHINGTON BLVD.
CORNELIUS W, DANIEL, III

P. O. BOX 243
CERTIFIED CIVIL TRIAL ATTORNEY SEA GIRT,(N. J. 08750
EDWARD B. KNAUER e :
MEMBER OF N.JJ. AND FL, BAR (201) 4949-0553
PAUL S, KENNEDY =
August 5, 1987 o
-
> &
= :
by}
Federal Election Commission =
washington, D.C. 20463
. ) »
Attention: Scott E. Thcmas, Chairman oo
Re: MUR 2412 =
Kennedy for Congress Committee

and C. Daniel, as Treasurer

Dear Mr. Thomas:

This is to acknowledge receipt of your letter of July 24, 1967. You are

correct in stating that the Kennedy for Congress Committee did report a

loan from Jackie Gilligan in the 1986 October auarterly report in the amount

of $10,000.00. You are not correct however, in stating that the

Committee knowingly accepted this contribution in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f).

Neither Mr. Kennedy, the candidate, nor I knew that there was any limitaticn
placed on the amount a candidate could borrow. As ycu can see, there was no
attempt to hide this loan by not reporting it.

Not only did I rot know that there was this limitation on borrowing funds, but
neither did William Maguire, our campaign manager who came to us from
Washington. Even he did not know that there was a limitation on the amount
that could be borrowed by a candidate or a committee.

Accordingly, please be advised that I am requesting a pre-probable cause
conciliation in accordance with 11 C.F.R. § 111.18(d).

Very truly yours,

KENNEDY AND, DANIEL

e

CORNELIUS W. DANIEL, III

CWD/kb
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August 6, 1987
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20463 =
p (.r‘ =
Attention: Scott E. Thomas, Chairman S it
Re: MUR 2412 s
Jackie Gilligan -
S
Dear Mr. Thomas: ve

This is to acknowiedge receipt of your letter of July 24, 1969,
It is true that on September 26, 1986 I did lend to my fiance'
Brian Kennedy, who was a candidate for Congress, the sum of
$10,000.00 as was reported by Mr. Kennedy in his financial reports
to the commission. As you can see, there was no attempt to hide
or deceive anyone about this.

I frankly did not know that I could not lend the sum of $10,000.00
to Mr. Kennedy's campaign. In fact, I happen to know that since
Mr. Kennedy is my fiance' that he didn't know that there was a
restriction on the amounts of monies that could be loaned to a
candidate.

Again, to be technically correct, and as I believe Mr. Kennedy has
aiready reported to you, $4,000.00 of the $10,000.00 was drawn

on a joint checking account in his name and my name. If there was

a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, again it was not
done intentionally and there was no attempt by anyone connected with
the campaign to deceive or to hide this loan.

As mentioned in your letter of July 24, 1987, I would request a
pre-probable cause conciliation and I hope that this matter can be
resolved in the near future.

Sincerely yours,

- VNS
-;‘«/f»z(nc (/‘L/ L 25 't -

JACKIE GILLIGAN'




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D €. 20463

November 18, 1987

The Commission

Lawrence M. Noble
General Counsel

BY: Lois G. Lerner gﬂ‘l//
Associate Gener CoupnSel

SUBJECT: MUR 2412 -- withdrawal and Recirculation of
General Counsel's Report

On November 6, 1987, this Office's report in MUR 2412
was circulated to the Commission. It has come to the attention
of this Office that the recommendation section on the second page
of the report requires the addition of a recommendation
concerning respondent Jackie Gilligan, and that both proposed
conciliation agreements list in item IV.3. the date of the loan
giving rise to this matter as September 26, 1987, when in fact
the loan was made on September 26, 1986. Attached to this
memorandum is a revised report and set of attachments reflecting
these revisions.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Kennedy for Congress Committee MUR 2412
and C. Daniel, as treasurer

Jackie Gilligan

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

I. BACKGROUND

On July 21, 1987, the Commission found reason to believe
Jackie Gilligan violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a) (1) (A) by extending a
loan of $10,000 to the Kennedy for Congress Committee (the
"Committee") and C. Daniel, as treasurer. The Commission also
found reason to believe the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. 5 44la(f)
by accepting the loan. The respondents were notified of these
findings by letters dated July 24, 1987.

On August 10, 1987, this Office received a pre-probable
cause conciliation request from the Committee, and received a

similar request from Ms. Gilligan on August 13, 1987.

II. DISCUSSION OF CONCILIATION PROVISIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY
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II1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Enter into conciliation with Jackie Gilligan prior to a
finding of probable cause to believe.

2. Enter into conciliation with Kennedy for Congress and
C. Daniel, as treasurer, prior to a finding of probable

cause to believe.
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3N Approve the attached proposed conciliation agreements and
letters.

_/_/?Zﬁ_ /w 7
- /' General Counsel

Attachments
1. Requests for conciliation
2. Proposed Conciliation Agreements and letters (2)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON D0 idnt

MEMORANDUM TO: LAWRENCE M. NOBLE
GENERAL COUNSEL
FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS/JOSHUA MCFADD@']
DATE: NOVEMBER 19, 1987
SUBJECT: OBJECTION TO MUR 2412 - General Counsel's Report

Signed November 18, 1987

o The above~captioned document was circulated to the
~.
Commission on Thursday, November 19, 1987 at 11:00 A.M.
(4o
- Objections have been received from the Commissioners
~ as indicated by the name(s) checked:
h .
Commissioner Alkens
<
Commissioner Elliott
<r
c Commissioner Josefiak
s Commissioner McDonald
. X

Commissioner McGarry

Commissioner Thomas

This matter will be placed on the Executive Session

agenda for December 1, 1987.

Please notify us who will represent your Division

before the Commission on this matter.




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
)
Kennedy for Congress Committee) MUR 2412
and C. Daniel, as treasurer )
Jackie Gilligan )

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session of December 1,
1987, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a
vote of 6-0 to take the following actions in MUR 2412:

1. Enter 1into conciliation with Jackie Gilligan

prior to a finding of probable cause to believe.
Enter 1into conciliation with Kennedy for

Congress and C. Daniel, as treasurer, prior to
a finding of probable cause to believe.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Josefiak, McDonald,
McGarry, and Thomas voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

(L =/-87

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C 20463 07 O ; 1987

C. Daniel, Treasurer

Kennedy for Congress Committee
P.O. Box 411

Sea Girt, NJ 08705

MUR 2412

Kennedy for Congress

and C. Daniel, as
treasurer

Dear Mr. Daniel:

On July 21, 1987, the Federal Election Commission found
reason to believe that the Kennedy for Congress Committee and you
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f). At your request, on
December 1 , 1987, the Commission determined to enter into
negotiations directed towards reaching a conciliation agreement
in settlement of this matter prior to a finding of probable cause
to believe,

R 390
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Enclosed is a conciliation agreement that the Commission has
approved in settlement of this matter. If you agree with the
provisions of the enclosed agreement, please sign and return it,
along with the civil penalty, to the Commission. In light of the
fact that conciliation negotiations, prior to a finding of
probable cause to believe, are limited to a maximum of 30 days,
you should respond to this notification as soon as possible.
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If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in the
agreement, or if you wish to arrange a meeting in ccnnection with
a mutually satisfactory conciliation agreement, please contact
John Drury, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 376-

8200.
e / M

awren<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>